72613-7

FILED
Mar 12, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

72613-7

No. 72613-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION I

BENJAMIN C. ARP,

Appellant,

v.

JAMES H. RILEY and "JANE DOE" RILEY, husband and wife and
the marital community composed thereof; and SIERRA
CONSTRUCTION CO. INC., a Washington State Corporation,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.
Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278
241 Madison Ave. North
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110
(206) 780-5033
Attorney for Benjamin C. Arp

INTRODUCTION

Judicial estoppel is an equitable remedy that should be sparingly granted. But here, the doctrine was used to achieve inequity. Ben Arp was necessarily and properly stopped in traffic on the highway when James Riley – admittedly in the course and scope of his employment with Sierra Construction Co. Inc. – collided into Arp's car at roughly 60 m.p.h. Riley was talking on his cell phone. Arp was severely injured, including short-term memory loss.

Although Arp had paid over \$150,000 to his Chapter 13 bankruptcy creditors at that point, his memory loss caused him to forget to make a few payments, totaling \$2,875. When the Trustee moved to dismiss his bankruptcy, Arp disclosed the collision and his injuries to the Trustee, who forgave Arp's late payments, accepted his final payoff, and closed the bankruptcy.

When Arp then retained counsel and sued Riley and Sierra, they asserted judicial estoppel to avoid their obvious liability for his severe injuries. Although the trial court granted summary judgment on this issue, there is nothing in the plain language of the Bankruptcy Code that supports that ruling. On the contrary, at least two opposite Washington cases reach the opposite conclusion. Riley and Sierra's arguments to the trial court are meritless. The Court should reverse.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment to Riley and Sierra applying judicial estoppel and finding that Arp lacked "standing" to bring his personal injury claim. CP 372-75.

2. The trial court erred in denying Arp's motion for summary judgment, refusing to dismiss Riley's judicial estoppel and "standing" claims. CP 375.

3. The trial court erred in denying reconsideration. CP 437-38.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Did the trial court err in imposing a duty to more fully disclose a post-confirmation claim, where the plain language of the Bankruptcy Code and of the confirmation order are to the contrary?

2. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment, where Arp was not required to disclose his potential claim against Riley and Sierra under oft-cited and remarkably similar Washington precedent?

3. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment, where Arp was not required to disclose his potential claim against Riley and Sierra under the most recent and apposite Washington precedent?

4. In light of the above errors, did the trial court err in granting summary judgment that Arp lacked standing to sue Riley and Sierra?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- A. Prior to the collision that gave rise to these proceedings, Benjamin Arp and his wife divorced, and he filed for Chapter 13 bankruptcy to forestall the wife's Chapter 7.**

Benjamin Arp and his wife separated in January 2008. CP 273. The divorce proceedings took a financial toll, as did a lawsuit involving an easement on Arp's property. CP 360. When Arp learned that his wife planned to file a Chapter 7 bankruptcy (without consulting Arp), he filed a petition for Chapter 13 bankruptcy protection to avoid a Chapter 7. CP 67, 273, 373.

The bankruptcy court confirmed Arp's wage-earner plan on December 17, 2009. CP 102, 373. The confirmation order required Arp to inform the Trustee of any change in circumstances and any additional income. CP 114,¹ 373. But "during the pendency of the plan hereby confirmed, all property of the estate, as defined by 11 U.S.C. 1306(a), shall remain vested in the debtor." App. A.

- B. Almost a year after Arp's Chapter 13 plan was confirmed, James Riley (while in the course and scope of his employment) rear-ended Arp, striking him at about 60 miles-per-hour while Arp was at a complete stop.**

On October 5, 2010 – almost a year after his bankruptcy plan was confirmed – Arp sustained a traumatic brain injury and other

¹ A copy of this confirmation order is attached as Appendix A.

serious physical injuries when he was rear-ended by a large SUV traveling at about 60 m.p.h. or more. CP 353, 354-55. Arp was driving his older model Honda Accord along Interstate 405 in the Kennydale Hill area, which is known for congested and dangerous traffic conditions. CP 353-54. Traffic often suddenly and rapidly decelerates from highway speeds to much slower speeds or a complete stop. *Id.* On the day of the collision, Arp came to a complete stop along with the traffic ahead of him. *Id.*

James Riley, a construction project manager for Sierra Construction Company, was traveling Southbound on I-405 from his employer's home office in Woodinville to an 11:00 business meeting in Tacoma. CP 352. It is undisputed that Riley was in the course and scope of his employment. CP 351 n.1. Riley was running late. CP 352. He drove his Yukon Denali SUV at 60 m.p.h. or more, focused on getting to his meeting on time. CP 352, 354-55.

Riley made two Bluetooth phone calls while driving, one starting at 10:10 and the next at 10:21. CP 353. The second call ended no earlier than 10:31. *Id.* The collision occurred at approximately 10:30 a.m. CP 352.

Arp saw Riley's SUV approaching from behind, traveling at high speed. CP 353. Arp was boxed in by other cars on all sides,

unable to escape. *Id.* Without ever braking, Riley slammed into Arp traveling 60 m.p.h. or more. CP 353, 354-55. The impact was so great that Riley's SUV pushed Arp's car into the car in front of him, severely damaging both cars. CP 354.

C. Arp sustained serious physical injuries, including a traumatic brain injury that affected his memory and dramatically changed his life.

As a result of the impact, Arp's head rapidly accelerated and decelerated, a common occurrence in a rear-end whiplash-type collision. CP 355. Both the front and back of Arp's skull also struck stationary objects in the car, leaving lacerations and contusions on his head. *Id.* Arp was very confused at the scene, and had no memory of hitting the car in front of him. *Id.*

Arp was taken to Harborview. *Id.* The CAT scan was not revealing, but other films revealed a fracture to the right tibia and several rib fractures. CP 397.² Arp was released later that day. *Id.*

After the accident, Arp followed up with doctors at Pacific Medical. CP 356. Arp's injuries include the following (CP 357, 359):

- ◆ Vertigo
- ◆ Multiple contusions and lacerations
- ◆ Neck, cervical, and low-back injuries;

² Some evidence cited here was raised in Arp's motion for reconsideration.

- ◆ Multiple rib fractures;
- ◆ Nagging chest-wall pain;
- ◆ A shoulder injury including a rotator cuff tear;
- ◆ Tibial stress fractures;
- ◆ A right tibia fracture;
- ◆ Hip and upper-thigh nerve damage;
- ◆ Left foot and ankle dysfunction;
- ◆ Bilateral knee pain;
- ◆ Swallowing problems; and
- ◆ Right thumb weakness and discomfort.

Arp also immediately suffered from numerous mental and emotional problems, including difficulty with memory, concentration, and attention; emotional lability; difficulty with coordination and balance; irritability and anger bursts; a continuous, loud ringing in his ears; anxiety and depression. CP 357. In January 2012, a brain MRI revealed hemorrhaging and other intra cranial abnormalities. CP 358. These brain injuries corresponded with Arp's decreased functioning, including diminished executive function; emotional lability; difficulties with multitasking, distraction, and spatial awareness; and serious memory loss. CP 358-59. Arp's doctors were prepared to testify that Arp's intracranial abnormalities and micro-hemorrhaging are a traumatic brain injury caused by the collision. CP 359, 398, 401.

These injuries dramatically changed Arp's life. At the time of the accident, Arp was in good physical shape. CP 356. Arp was an avid hiker and mountain climber, having climbed Mt. McKinley. CP 356, 402. He was adventurous and loved challenges. CP 356.

Arp worked as a database administrator for Boeing, where he routinely received excellent performance reviews. *Id.* Before joining Boeing, Arp was a research scientist for 23 years at the University of Washington. *Id.* For ten years, Arp worked alongside renowned immunology researcher Ursula Storb, M.D., who described Arp as brilliant, adaptable, creative, and innovative. *Id.*

Arp is now concerned that he may never mountain climb again. CP 402. Arp continues to experience pain, particularly related to his fractured tibia and back injuries. *Id.* He has an ongoing "radio fuzz" sound in his ears, shortness of breath, and balance issues that impair his ability to walk. CP 397, 402.

When Arp tried hiking in summer 2011, the downhill climb was excruciatingly painful. CP 402. For the most part, his physical activity is now limited to walking. *Id.*

Arp also has significant difficulties at work, which he now finds very tiring. CP 357, 358. Following the collision, Arp has areas of significant difficulty and weakness, the greatest being in memory and

complex-attention measures. CP 406. Arp, who used to have a near-photographic memory, has significantly reduced immediate memory for both auditory and visual information. CP 357, 406. His delayed recall of information is also reduced, and his auditory and visual working memory is below expectation. CP 406.

Arp's complex attention measures are also significantly reduced. *Id.* Although his basic processing speed is intact, Arp is now slower on more complex tasks. *Id.* And while his abstract reasoning remains strong, other aspects of executive functioning are slightly below expectation. *Id.*

Arp's deficits are debilitating at work and in daily life. CP 357-58. After a meeting, Arp forgets what was said. CP 357. He misplaces things, forgets appointments and making them, and forgets important dates. CP 358. He will start a task, but get distracted and forget what he is doing. CP 357. He has trouble proofreading, makes spelling errors, omits words, and inadvertently inserts words that are unrelated to what he intends to say. *Id.* He forgets what he is doing, forgets visual material, and even forgets faces. *Id.* For the first time ever, Arp started receiving negative performance reviews. CP 358.

Arp was diagnosed with cognitive disorder NOS, and adjustment disorder NOS with depression and anxiety. CP 407. Arp reported feeling sad and discouraged, as well as extremely agitated, restless, and irritable. CP 406. His energy decreased and his fatigue increased. *Id.* He cries more often than he used to, is self-critical, derives little pleasure from things he used to enjoy, and "feels that he has failed." *Id.* Things have become so difficult that Arp no longer feels thankful he survived the collision. CP 402.

D. Due to the extensive injuries and memory loss he sustained, and after paying over \$150,000 on his Chapter 13 wage-earner plan, Arp forgot to make \$2,875 in payments, and the Trustee moved to dismiss his bankruptcy; but Arp successfully obtained permission to pay off the remainder and obtained a discharge.

As a result of the memory loss caused by the collision, Arp forgot to make some of his bankruptcy payments. CP 116, 118. In November 2011, the bankruptcy Trustee moved to dismiss Arp's bankruptcy based on his failure to make payments. CP 109, 373. In January 2012, Arp responded to the motion to dismiss, explaining that he forgot to make some bankruptcy payments because he suffered from short-term memory loss caused by a traumatic brain injury resulting from the October collision. CP 116-18. Arp disclosed

the date of the collision, stated that he was not at fault, and briefly explained his brain injuries. *Id.*³

By this time, Arp already had paid over \$154,336.42 to his creditors under his Chapter 13 plan, having forgotten payments totaling only \$2,875. App. B, CP 116-17. Arp informed the Trustee that he had made arrangements to borrow money from his sister so that he could pay the balance owing in one payment. App. B., CP 116-17, 118. He asked for permission to do so, explaining that his brain injury explained his recent lack of payment. App. B, CP 117.

The Trustee struck his motion to dismiss just over a week after receiving Arp's response. CP 109-10. In March 2012, the bankruptcy court granted Arp a discharge. CP 111. In April, Arp's Chapter 13 bankruptcy was paid off and closed. CP 111-12.

E. Procedural History: the trial court dismissed Arp's personal injury claim, ruling that he was required to disclose it more fully during his bankruptcy proceedings, so he was judicially estopped and lacked standing.

Arp filed suit against Riley in November 2012, later amending his complaint to add Riley's employer, Sierra Construction. CP 1-3, 9-12, 374. Sixteen months later (April 23, 2014) Sierra amended its

³ A copy of Arp's response to the motion to dismiss is in Appendix B.

affirmative defenses to include judicial estoppel and lack of standing. CP 22, 24-26, 374. Riley did the same in June. CP 246-49, 327, 374.

In May 2014, Arp moved for summary judgment to dismiss defendant Sierra's and Riley's affirmative defenses on judicial estoppel and standing. CP 28-35. Defendants cross-moved for summary judgment that Arp's claims were judicially estopped, and/or that Arp lacked standing to sue. CP 126-42, 251-59.

The trial court granted the defendants' motions, ruling as a matter of law that Arp's personal injury claim, which had not then been filed, was an asset of the bankruptcy estate as defined by 11 USC 1306(a)(1).⁴ CP 374. The court ruled that Arp had a duty to disclose this post-petition asset in his bankruptcy action and that Arp's response to the Trustee's motion to dismiss disclosing the collision and his injuries was not sufficient notice. CP 374-75. Thus, the court dismissed Arp's personal injury claims with prejudice, ruling that he was judicially estopped and lacked standing. CP 375.

Arp moved for reconsideration. CP 377-88. The court denied Arp's motion. CP 437-38. Arp timely appealed. CP 439-49.

⁴ Copies of all cited statutes and rules are attached to this brief.

ARGUMENT

A. The standard of review is *de novo*.

On review of a summary judgment, appellate courts apply CR 56 *de novo*. See, e.g., ***Utter ex rel. State v. Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of Wash.***, ___ Wn.2d ___, ¶¶ 11, 341 P.3d 953 (2015). They take the facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the responding party. *Id.* Summary judgment is appropriate if no genuine issues of material fact exist and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* Interpretation of statutes is a question of law reviewed *de novo*. *Id.* at ¶ 10.

B. The trial court erred because Arp was not required to disclose his potential claim under the plain language of the Bankruptcy Code.

Under the plain language of the Bankruptcy Code,⁵ Arp was not required to schedule his post-confirmation claims against Riley, et al. Only a limited amount of property acquired post-petition must be disclosed (*i.e.*, the bankruptcy schedules must be amended only under limited circumstances, none of which applies here), and there is no requirement to amend the schedules post-confirmation. The trial court therefore erred in applying judicial estoppel.

⁵ For a brief overview of the Chapter 13 process, see CP 31-32.

“The commencement of a case under . . . this title creates an estate.” 11 U.S.C. § 541(a). That estate is composed of property defined in § 541(a), including essentially all non-exempt property of the debtor at the outset of the case, and the following property of the estate acquired after the debtor has commenced a bankruptcy case:

(5) Any interest in property that would have been property of the estate if such interest had been an interest of the debtor on the date of the filing of the petition, and that the debtor acquires or becomes entitled to acquire within 180 days after such date⁶ –

(A) by bequest, devise, or inheritance;

(B) as a result of a property settlement agreement with the debtor's spouse, or of an interlocutory or final divorce decree; or

(C) as a beneficiary of a life insurance policy or of a death benefit plan.

...

(7) Any interest in property that the estate acquires after the commencement of the case.

11 U.S.C. § 541(a)(5) & (7) (underlining added). Neither of these provisions (nor the rest of paragraph of § 541(a)) applies in the circumstances of this case.

⁶ Riley and Sierra correctly pointed out below that many cases have held that the 180-day time limitation in §541(a)(5) does not apply in Chapter 13 cases due to § 1306, discussed *infra*. CP 138-40.

Under § 541(a)(5), a debtor must amend his schedules only if he receives an inheritance, a settlement or final dissolution order in a family law case, or life insurance or other death benefit. The substantive requirements of § 541(a)(5) are not met with regard to Arp's potential lawsuit.

Under 11 U.S.C. Rule 1007(h), "If, as provided by § 541(a)(5) . . . the debtor acquires or becomes entitled to acquire any interest in property, the debtor shall within 10 days . . . file a supplemental schedule in the . . . chapter 13 individual debt adjustment case." As discussed above, § 541(a)(5) applies to a limited list of property not relevant here. Arp had no duty to amend his schedules under the plain language of these provisions.

Under § 541(a)(7), only an interest in property that *the estate acquires* after commencement of the case must be scheduled. But here, Arp's wage-earner plan was confirmed on December 17, 2009, almost a year before the collision. CP 102; 112. The effect of that confirmation order is that (a) Arp and his creditors are bound by the terms of the plan, (b) all property of the estate is vested in Arp, and (c) Arp holds the estate property free and clear, subject to bankruptcy court jurisdiction, all as set forth in 11 U.S.C. § 1327:

(a) The provisions of a confirmed plan bind the debtor and each creditor, whether or not the claim of such creditor is provided for by the plan, and whether or not such creditor has objected to, has accepted, or has rejected the plan.

(b) Except as otherwise provided in the plan or the order confirming the plan, the confirmation of a plan vests all of the property of the estate in the debtor.

(c) Except as otherwise provided in the plan or in the order confirming the plan, the property vesting in the debtor under subsection (b) of this section is free and clear of any claim or interest of any creditor provided for by the plan.

In short, after the confirmation, Arp holds all property of the estate free and clear. Section 1327(b) & (c) also provide that all property is vested in Arp, "except as otherwise provided in the plan or in the order confirming the plan." But here, the order confirming Arp's plan states that all property remains vested in Arp:

... the Court does hereby ORDER:

...

6. That during the pendency of the plan hereby confirmed, all property of the estate, as defined by 11 U.S.C. 1306(a), shall remain vested in the debtor

App. A, CP 114. In turn, § 1306(a) further defines property of the estate as including, "in addition to the property specified in section 541 of this title—(1) all property of the kind specified in such section that the debtor acquires after the commencement of the case"

Thus, the confirmation order provides that even as to after-acquired

property, it “shall remain vested” in Arp. The confirmation order is thus consistent with § 1327 in vesting the property of the estate in Arp, which would include his after-acquired legal claims.

In sum, the plain language of the Bankruptcy Code provides that all of the property – including Arp’s post-confirmation cause of action – vests in Arp. As a result, he had no duty to amend his schedule to reflect that cause of action. The trial court erred in concluding otherwise and in applying judicial estoppel.

To avoid this plain language, Riley and Sierra cited *Hamilton v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 270 F.3d 778 (9th Cir. 2001), arguing that it required Arp to amend his bankruptcy schedules. CP 133. But *Hamilton* involved a pre-commencement dispute between an insured and his insurer, which the insured then failed to list when he subsequently filed a Chapter 7 bankruptcy. *Hamilton* says nothing about claims that arise post-confirmation. On the contrary, it expressly states that, “if the debtor has enough information . . . prior to confirmation to suggest that it may have a possible cause of action, then that is a known cause of action such that it must be disclosed.” 270 F.3d at 782 (quoting *In re Coastal Plains*, 179 F.3d 197, 208 (5th Cir. 1999) (emphasis added)). And while a Chapter 7

debtor may have a duty to update his schedules, Arp did not, as explained *supra*. **Hamilton** is inapposite.

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