No. 72613-7-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, IN THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BENJAMIN C. ARP,

Appellant,

v.

JAMES H. RILEY and "JANE DOE" RILEY, husband and wife and the marital community composed thereof; and SIERRA CONSTRUCTION CO., INC. a Washington State Corporation,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick/Tribe 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

William O'Brien, WSBA #5907 Gregory Wallace, WSBA #29029 Law Offices of William J. O'Brien 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3810 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 515-4800 Attorneys for Respondents STATE OF WASHINGTON

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

D. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Arp's present action is barred under principles of judicial estoppel and lack of standing.

Washington law aggressively applies judicial estoppel in the bankruptcy setting to bar a debtor from acting inequitably by failing to advise the bankruptcy courts of a state court lawsuit, a potentially valuable asset that could be used to pay the debtor's creditors, and then pursuing a state court action for the debtor's personal benefit.

Here, Arp failed to advise the bankruptcy trustee, his creditors, or the bankruptcy court of this lawsuit, though obligated to do so by bankruptcy law generally and the confirmation order in his case. He is estopped to pursue this action. Moreover, by virtue of that non-disclosure, he lacks standing to present this action.

Arp's present action was properly dismissed by the trial court.

E. ARGUMENT

(1) Standard of Review

Arp misstates the applicable standard of review. Br. of Appellant at 12. As noted above, the trial court granted summary judgment based on two different grounds: lack of standing and judicial estoppel. The judgment should be affirmed if either ground is supported in law. Arp raises three questions relative to his lack of standing and judicial estoppel, which are subject to two different standards of review.

Arp contends the trial court erred in applying the doctrine of judicial estoppel based on his failure to disclose. On appeal, this Court reviews a summary judgment based on judicial estoppel for an abuse of the trial court's discretion. *Harris v. Fortin*, 183 Wn. App. 522, 527, 333 P.3d 556 (2014); *Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 535, 538, 160 P.3d 13 (2007). Accordingly, if the Court determines Arp had a duty to disclose this case, the trial court's order granting summary judgment based on judicial estoppel should be affirmed unless this Court finds "no reasonable person would take the position adopted by the trial court." *Public Utility Dist. No. 1 of Okanogan Co. v. State*, __ Wn.2d ____, 342 P.3d 308, 314 (2015) (internal quotation omitted).

Arp also raises the issue of whether the trial court correctly held he lacked standing as a result of his non-disclosure. Whether a party has

legal standing is a question of law reviewed *de novo*. *Spokane Airports v*. *RMA, Inc.*, 149 Wn. App. 930, 939, 206 P.3d 364 (2009), *review denied*, 167 Wn.2d 1017 (2010).

(2) Overview of Relevant Bankruptcy Law

To fairly evaluate the trial court's judgment applying judicial estoppel and recognizing Arp lacks standing, it is necessary to understand certain principles of bankruptcy law. Individual debtors, such as Arp, generally have the option to file for bankruptcy under Chapters 7 or 13 of the bankruptcy code.

In a Chapter 7 bankruptcy, when the bankruptcy petition is filed all the debtor's assets in existence at that time become property of the debtor's bankruptcy estate. § 541. With very few exceptions, the Chapter 7 bankruptcy estate is established at the time of filing, and does not change. The assets of the Chapter 7 bankruptcy estate, if any, are then used to pay claims filed by the debtor's creditors. Following this process, the debtor receives a discharge of all dischargeable debts the debtor properly listed during bankruptcy.

In contrast to Chapter 7, Chapter 13 bankruptcies involve an ongoing reorganization between the debtor, trustee, and creditors. Like Chapter 7 debtors, a bankruptcy estate containing all the debtor's assets is created at the time a Chapter 13 debtor files for bankruptcy. §§ 541 and

1306. Unlike Chapter 7 bankruptcies, however, a Chapter 13 bankruptcy is not static, and instead grows to include all assets the Chapter 13 debtor acquires during the pendency of the bankruptcy, as set forth in § 1306.

The existence of the debtor's Chapter 13 payment plan further distinguishes Chapter 13 and Chapter 7 bankruptcies. Unlike Chapter 7, Chapter 13 debtors pay their creditors through confirmation of a Chapter 13 payment plan, which provides that the debtor will pay a certain sum of cash and/or assets monthly to the debtor's creditors for a specific amount of time. Importantly, creditors and the trustee can, and do, object to any plan the debtor proposes that does not require the debtor to pay a sufficient amount toward satisfying the debtor's outstanding debts. The initial Chapter 13 plan represents an informed compromise between the parties to the debtor's bankruptcy whereby the creditors agree to accept a reasonable sum of money or assets in exchange for forgiving some of the debtor's debts, and the debtor agrees to turn over some assets each month in exchange for debt forgiveness.

Chapter 13 bankruptcies are also unique in that the debtor, trustee, and creditors can seek to modify the terms of the Chapter 13 payment plan at any time prior to the final plan payment if the debtor acquires new assets. The bankruptcy code specifically permits the bankruptcy court to

⁵ In this case in particular, Arp proposed two prior Chapter 13 plans which were rejected on the basis of the trustee and creditor's objection.

modify the terms of the Chapter 13 plan at any time prior to the final plan payment being made. § 1329. The importance of the ability to modify a Chapter 13 plan cannot be overstated because it permits the court to modify the Chapter 13 plan to require the debtor to pay a higher monthly payment or to turn over specific assets if the debtor acquires any new assets during the course of the bankruptcy, including after confirmation of the Chapter 13 plan. § 1329. As a result, any Chapter 13 plan is merely interlocutory in that it may be changed at any time if the debtor's circumstances or assets change during the bankruptcy.

Although Chapter 13 and 7 bankruptcies have some differences, one important common theme is the fundamental importance of the debtor's duty to fully and accurately disclose all his or her assets. As Washington courts have noted:

[T]he integrity of the bankruptcy system depends on full and honest disclosure by debtors of all of their assets. The courts will not permit a debtor to obtain relief from the bankruptcy court by representing that no claims exist and then subsequently to assert those claims for his own benefit in a separate proceeding. The interests of both the creditors, who plan their actions in the bankruptcy proceeding on the basis of information supplied in the disclosure statements, and the bankruptcy court, which must decide whether to approve the plan of reorganization on the same basis, are impaired when the disclosure provided by the debtor is incomplete.

McFarling, 141 Wn. App. at 403-04 (internal citation and quotation omitted). In other words, in exchange for the benefits of bankruptcy, debtors are required to fully disclose any potential asset. Moreover, debtor's creditors rely on the truth and completeness of the debtor's disclosure when deciding whether to agree to a proposed Chapter 13 plan, or when deciding whether to move to modify the terms of a confirmed Chapter 13 plan.

Within this broader bankruptcy framework, the issues presented on appeal must be analyzed within the context of two principles of bankruptcy law in particular. First, the trustee and Arp's creditors at all times were entitled to seek modification of Arp's Chapter 13 plan to require that he turn over some or all proceeds from any settlement or judgment in the underlying lawsuit. Second, the ability of the court, trustee, and creditors to exercise this right to modify Arp's Chapter 13 plan was dependent upon Arp truthfully disclosing any assets he acquired, including the underlying case, until the time his bankruptcy closed.

(3) Washington Law Recognizes Principles of Judicial Estoppel Generally and in the Bankruptcy Context Specifically

Washington law routinely applies the equitable doctrine of judicial estoppel to prevent parties from taking inconsistent positions in court. In *Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 535, 160 P.3d 13 (2007) our

Supreme Court articulated the core principles of the doctrine as precluding a party from asserting one position in a court proceeding and later seeking an advantage by taking a clearly inconsistent position. The doctrine is designed to preserve respect for judicial proceedings, and to avoid inconsistency, duplicity, and waste of time. *Id.* at 538. The Court stated:

Three core factors guide a trial court's determination of whether to apply the judicial estoppel doctrine: (1) whether "a party's later position" is "'clearly inconsistent' with its earlier position"; (2) whether 'judicial acceptance of an inconsistent position in a later proceeding would create 'the perception that either the first or the second court was misled"; and (3) "whether the party seeking to assert an inconsistent position would derive an unfair advantage or impose an unfair detriment on the opposing party if not estopped." New Hampshire v. Maine, 532 U.S. 742, 750-51, 121 S. Ct. 1808, 149 L.Ed.2d 968 (2001) (quoting Edwards v. Aetna Life Ins. Co., 690 F.2d 595, 599 (6th Cir. 1982)). These factors are not an "exhaustive formula" and "[a]dditional considerations" may guide a court's decision. Id. at 751, 121 S. Ct. 1808; see, e.g., Markley v. Markley, 31 Wash.2d 605, 614-15, 198 P.2d 486 (1948) (listing six factors that may likewise be relevant when applying judicial estoppel). Application of the doctrine may be inappropriate "when a party's prior position was based on inadvertence or mistake." New Hampshire, 532 U.S. at 753, 121 S. Ct. 1808 (quoting John S. Clark Co. v. Faggert & Frieden, P.C., 65 F.3d 26, 29 (4th Cir. 1985)). In the instant case, we must query for the first time whether a trial court abuses its discretion in applying judicial estoppel against a bankruptcy trustee standing as a real party in interest.

Id. at 538-39. A trial court's decision to apply the equitable doctrine of judicial estoppel is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 538. *See*

also, Anfinson v. Fed Ex Ground Package Sys., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851, 861-62, 281 P.3d 289 (2012).

In the bankruptcy context specifically, Washington courts have been aggressive in applying judicial estoppel principles to defend the integrity of the courts and to prevent a bankruptcy debtor from attempting to defraud creditors in bankruptcy by hiding state court lawsuits, whose proceeds could pay such creditors. See, e.g., Skinner v. Holgate, 141 Wn. App. 840, 173 P.3d 300 (2007); McFarling v. Evaneski, 141 Wn. App. 400, 171 P.3d 497 (2007). See also, Kee v. Evergreen Professional Recoveries, Inc., 2009 WL 2578982 (W.D. Wash. 2009).

Arp attempts to distinguish the public policy basis for judicial estoppel here by a hyper-technical argument on the nature of the bankruptcy protection he sought. He should not be allowed to skirt the obvious inequity of his position. He had a duty under bankruptcy law generally and the confirmation order in his case specifically to disclose the

⁶ Thus, there is a distinct irony in Arp's invocation of equity to prevent the dismissal of the present action. Br. of Appellant at 28-29. He hardly possesses "clean hands" where he failed to list this potentially valuable lawsuit as an asset of his estate, defrauding his creditors in bankruptcy of an opportunity to obtain payments for Arp's debts beyond the sums he paid to his creditors.

⁷ In *Harris v. Fortin*, 183 Wn. App. 522, 333 P.3d 556 (2014), this Court recently held that judicial estoppel applies even to debtors who fundamentally misrepresent the value of assets in their bankruptcy estate. There, a debtor in a Chapter 7 proceeding listed a promissory note as an asset but asserted it was uncollectible and had no value. This Court applied the doctrine of judicial estoppel both to facts and law and barred the debtor's state court action to collect on the note.

lawsuit as an estate asset. He failed to do so and that should bar his present action.

(4) The Trial Court Correctly Held Arp Had and Breached an Affirmative Duty to Disclose This Case As an Asset During His Bankruptcy

The dispositive inquiry before this Court is whether Arp had a duty to disclose the underlying case to the bankruptcy court, trustee, and his numerous creditors. If Arp had and breached such a duty, the undisputed facts in the record establish the trial court correctly entered summary judgment against Arp based on both lack of standing and judicial estoppel. As provided below, two separate sources of law imposed on Arp a duty to disclose: (1) the bankruptcy court's confirmation order, and (2) the bankruptcy code. Each is addressed in turn.

(a) <u>The Confirmation Order Imposed an Ongoing</u> Duty on Arp to Disclose

Arp first contends the confirmation order modified or removed his ongoing duty imposed by the bankruptcy code to disclose assets. Br. of Appellant at 26-27. As stated below, the confirmation order directly required disclosure of the cause of action as a "change in Arp's circumstances." CP 114, 154, 323, 373, 416. Similarly, Arp is incorrect in contending that any "vesting" provided for by the confirmation order relieved him of the obligation to disclose any asset, whether vested or not.

⁸ As indicated *supra*, whether Arp had a duty to disclose is reviewed *de novo*.

(i) The confirmation order required disclosure of Arp's cause of action based on the alleged motor vehicle accident because it was a change in his circumstances

As the trial court held, the confirmation order imposed on Arp an express duty upon Arp to disclose any relevant change in income, assets, or circumstances, which included disclosure of this case. CP 344-75, 445-46. In relevant part, the confirmation order stated:

4. That [Arp] shall inform the Trustee of any change in circumstances, or receipt of additional income, and shall further comply with any requests of the Trustee with respect to additional financial information the Trustee may require;

. . .

6. That during the pendency of the plan hereby confirmed, all property of the estate as defined by 11 U.S.C. section 1306(a), shall remain vested in the debtor, under the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court, and further, that the debtor shall not, without specific approval of the Court, lease, sell, transfer, encumber or otherwise dispose of such property;

CP 114, 154, 323, 373, 416 (emphasis supplied). The confirmation order, therefore, imposed two related duties. First, Arp was required to disclose any change in circumstance, *including but not limited to* receipt of additional income. The only reasonable reading of this part of the order is that Arp had to disclose any event that may affect his assets or liabilities. The fact that the order refers to a "change" in circumstances also establishes the duty would be triggered by future events. Additionally, the

requirement that Arp must comply with requests for additional financial information by the trustee further presupposes Arp was required to disclose the nature of future assets or liabilities, otherwise the trustee would have no basis to request such details.

The confirmation order also imposed a second duty that Arp must refrain from encumbering any asset of the bankruptcy estate without approval of the trustee. The requirement that Arp must notify the trustee prior to encumbering assets reflects the ongoing jurisdiction of the bankruptcy court regarding Arp's future assets, including this case. Hiding a cause of action from the trustee and bankruptcy court certainly "encumbers" that action. Disclosure was required.

Although he admits he was generally required to disclose changes in his circumstances, Arp contends that the cause of action was not a "change in circumstances" because it did not result in an immediate cash benefit. RP 5. Arp contends the confirmation order "does not require disclosure of *non-income assets*." Br. of Appellant at 27 (emphasis

⁹ "Non-technical [words] are to be given their plain, dictionary meaning." *Burns v. City of Seattle*, 161 Wn.2d 129, 162-63, 164 P.3d 475 (2007) (citing Webster's Dictionary for definition). The plain meaning of "encumber" is:

^{1:} weigh down, burden.

^{2:} to impede or hamper the function or activity of.

^{3:} to burden with a legal claim (as a mortgage).

Merriam-Webster, http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/encumber (last visited Apr. 16, 2015).

supplied). Sierra notes that the confirmation order states Arp must disclose changes in circumstances; not that Arp must disclose only *immediate monetary* changes in circumstances. CP 114, 154, 323, 373, 416. Arp reads a qualifier into the confirmation order that is simply not present. And, if followed, leads down a slippery slope that bankruptcy courts have universally refused to follow: debtors decide what assets to disclose.

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